The new religion

Contents

Introduction
The purpose of the new religion
Characteristics of the new religior
Strands of the new religion

Climate alarmism

Wokeism

Queer Theory

Zionism

Roman Catholicism

Luciferianism

Gaia worship

Witchcraft

Celebrity cults

The need for a religious expression

Syncretism

The motivation behind this new religion

The purpose of any new religion

Biblical principles that count in light of these developments

Conclusion

Introduction

We know that the global Elite are trying to destroy Christianity in the West, not only in terms of religious expression in churches and individuals but all traces of Christian principles in culture. This is part of a Satanic war against God that is coming to fulness in the end-times.

What is less well understood is that, as part of this war, the Elite cabal is trying to impose a new religion upon populations by stealth. This religion has many seemingly disparate expressions but the net result is demanding a blind faith from citizens.

This new faith is also Erastian; that is, it centres in a state-religion; it is a state-imposed faith system. In terms of governance the Elite system is fascist: that is, a syncretism of corporatism and the state. The stakeholder proposals of the WEF are essentially Fascist. In terms of religion, the Elite system is an Erastian union of the state and religion. Together, state control over populations is strongly established; both the person's actions and the thinking are controlled by the state. The new order is a state control over the individual's mind and body.¹

These two prongs of Elite strategy represent the prophecies in Revelation about the final world empire under the figurative image of two beasts. The beast from the sea is the Satanic global political system that is wicked, blasphemous, totalitarian, hedonistic, mercantile, fascist and brutal. The beast from the earth (the false prophet) is a new global religion that causes mankind to worship the first beast, and therefore Satan its master.

To dominate the world, the hegemony requires not only ruthless political governance but also a single subservient spiritual system bolstering that governance.

The purpose of the new religion

As I have alluded, the new state-controlled religion is required to control the thinking of citizens. Alternative views will not be allowed; only state-approved dogma will be tolerated.

This measure of control is already being implemented viciously by the Starmer authoritarian government. People are being jailed for expressing their thoughts on social media because their thinking does not comply with government standards. Even under the Tories police questioned Harry Miller (an ex-cop) to literally 'check his thinking' and recorded a non-crime hate incident (which he overthrew in the High Court).

People instinctively need something to worship as a foundation for their inner lives. They require something more than physical pursuits to wile away their time; they need a spiritual bedrock for inner stability.

The hegemony understands this and seeks to implement new creeds to form a string of beliefs that will later be formatted into a systematised dogmatic locus of faith. Various agendas are formatted based on a belief system pursued with vigorous religious zeal. They may not even appear to be outwardly religious, but pursuance of the goals rely upon blind faith in irrational propositions followed by religious passion.

¹ Note that Keir Starmer mentioned state control 15 times in his recent important speech to his followers.

Characteristics of the new religion

The new agendas and ideologies being pushed by the Elite cabal manifest similar characteristics of any historic religion and cult.

Creed

They all have an essential basic set of propositions that undergird the ideology. For example, the climate alarmist creed is:

- CO2 is evil because it warms the Earth.
- It is evil for humans to create this compound through selfishness.
- As a result of human behaviour the world is burning up.
- As a result of this global warming, multiple natural disasters are occurring.

The fact that all of these propositions are lies that deny real observed facts is irrelevant because this is a religious cult.²

Blind faith

They require a faith position regarding the tenets of their creed. Rationality, logic and true science are irrelevant.

Scriptures

The creed and the blind faith are focused upon the central sacred texts of the group in question. These are the authoritative documents that seek to prove the claims of the ideology.

Teachers, priests, evangelists and prophets

The groups manifest various types of authoritative leaders with various gifts and abilities. The teachers expound the doctrines of the group to the followers. The priests represent the members of the groups and act as managers of the ideology; they also act as teachers. Evangelists are communicators of the creed to outsiders to win over converts. Prophets are firebrands that zealously communicate the central message of the ideology in passionate terms, inspiring selfless sacrifice to the creed.

Temple

Some have a centralised temple-like structure, where the crucial doctrines dwell and where they are authoritatively expounded, which become a focus of the group's attention. In some cases there is a pilgrimage to the central focus.

Churches

These are the localised places of fellowship for the members of the ideology; meeting places where the doctrines are discussed and strategies planned for expansion.

Heretical opponents

Opponents to the ideology are deemed as heretics because they deny the creed. Facts and rationality are ignored while passionate religious hatred is inculcated.

² CO₂ makes plants grow that provide oxygen; the current level is historically low. Humans mainly create CO₂ by breathing but termites and volcanoes produce far more than human civilisation. There is no established science to show that CO₂ drives global temperature but there is empirical data showing that CO₂ rises AFTER a rise in global temperature. The natural disasters alluded to are fabrications; e.g. the Great Barrier Reef is thriving.

Messiah

Some of the ideologies have a messiah-like figure; a champion of the system that promotes zeal among the followers.

Devil

Some prominent opponents of the ideology take on a devil-like character to the group. Usually this is a powerful communicator of doctrines that are diametrically opposed to the group.

Eschatology

Many of the ideologies have a specific eschatology; that is, a doctrine of the end. E.g. in climate alarmism the eschatology is the world burning up as a result of human behaviour.

Strands of the new religion

Climate alarmism

This can only be described as a religious cult. It requires suspending rational thinking, ignoring provable facts and believing in a millennialist Armageddon on the horizon requiring disciplined, self-defeating actions (e.g. intermittent energy, lack of mobility, increased poverty, lack of meat)

I won't analyse all the reasons why climate alarmism is a pack of lies, having done that in many other papers. Only insane people could impose a system upon populations that is based upon fundamental untruths, such as that CO2 is a dangerous threat to the Earth that must be eradicated.³ Or that mankind emits so much CO2 into the atmosphere that it threatens global temperatures. None of this is either true or scientific.⁴

The lies of climate alarmists just keep on coming to brainwash populations. Polar bears are thriving not becoming extinct. The Great Barrier Reef is at an all-time high when alarmists said that it would be destroyed by now. South Sea Islands are not underwater as claimed by the UN in the 90s. The Maldives and Tuvalu, for example, have grown in size due to sand deposition. Deaths from wildfires and hurricanes are at a century low. And so on. As in most cults, lies form the basis of faith systems. For example, over two thirds of the Met Office's temperature stations are officially classed (by the World Meteorological Organisation) as junk with readings of a 2-5 degrees error. Eight in ten are in junk class 4 and super junk class 5.

Yet the government and alarmists demand that you believe numerous nonsensical items of faith:

- That CO2 is evil.
- That CO₂ causes increases in global temperature.
- That anthropogenic CO₂ is the biggest contributor to this.

³ CO2 is fundamental to life on Earth. Without it the Earth would die. It is a wonderful molecule that causes plants to grow which provide oxygen. The Earth needs more CO2 than the present level of 422ppm and in the past the levels have been as high as 7,000ppm when life on Earth was verdant.

⁴ CO2 is a tiny part of the atmosphere (0.054%). There is no scientific proof that CO2 controls global temperature. In fact, CO2 increases <u>after global</u> temperatures have risen. Mankind produces far less CO2 (0.3% of CO2 emissions) than termites or volcanoes.

⁵ The Daily Sceptic, Chris Morrison, 'Exclusive: Met Office in denial as it rates almost all its temperature stations as excellent, good or satisfactory', 18 September 2024.

- That the current level of CO2 at 422ppm is high when in past history the level was at 7,000ppm and the Earth was fine.
- That the Earth is boiling.
- That the Earth will burn up within decades.
- That humans produce so much CO2 that they directly contribute to the destruction of the planet.
- That cows produce so much methane that they must be destroyed and food production placed into jeopardy.
- That warm periods in history, which were all productive, must be written out of history and ignored.
- That the mini ice-age ending in 1805 must be ignored when showing the history of rising global temperatures (which results in the famous hockey-stick graph creating false alarm).
- That eating meat is a threat to the planet.

And many more confessions of climate alarmist belief.

The result is demonstrations of faith-based cultic activity, such as evidenced by climate messiah Greta Thunberg and her followers. This results in much chest-beating and declarations of woe coupled with scaremongering of the worst kind.

As in many cases of historic cultic activity, the leaders of the cult demonstrate utter hypocrisy; such as travelling to climate conferences in private jets consuming enough CO2 for thousands of people in one day. Or travelling to a conference in a sailboat with publicity photo-shoots but secretly flying back home in an aeroplane. Or the WEF leaders at Davos proclaiming that people must eat insects when they dined on expensive steaks and lobster in the most expensive restaurants.

This is a pagan religion with its prophets of doom, declarations that the end is nigh, with religious leaders demonstrating sheer hypocrisy and demands to put blind faith in propositions of nonsense.

Messiah

Greta Thunberg.

Scriptures

Publications of the IPCC, the Met Office and NASA.

Temples

The BBC. The WEF. The UN.

Priest

Klaus Schwab.

Prophets

Bill Gates. Al Gore. Michael Mann (hockey stick graph).

Devil

Carbon Dioxide.

Eschatology

The world will burn up within a decade.

Wokeism

This term is hard to define and there are various attempts to pin it down; however, it includes multiple progressive ideas including Intersectionalism, Critical Race Theory, anti-colonialism, anti-White racism, anti-White slavery guilt, support for Transgenderism and so on.

Wokeism developed out of the earlier Social Justice Warrior clique that was really a front for progressive Socialist ideals. As in many modern political ideologies, the root principles are Marxist with a view to disrupt Western society, destabilise culture and create schism.

Adherents of this cult see themselves as victims and bewail their situation. They focus their religious ire upon their enemies, usually centred in White privilege, White males, White colonialism and White historic guilt (e.g. for slavery), people (including Feminists) opposed to Gay rights, Transgenderism and furries (identification as an animal). Their religious zeal pushes them to attack their opponents in every way imaginable resulting in innocent people being smeared, arrested, jailed, losing their job, being de-platformed, denounced, smeared and sometimes violently assaulted.

Not satisfied with attacking people, they press their assaults on history: buildings, statues, memorials, flags, books, and so on. Statues of philanthropists have been ripped down and thrown into a harbour. Others have been defaced with paint and graffiti. This is a modern burning of the vanities by puritanical zealots. Even listed buildings have been identified as guilty of a connection to slavery.

Opposing facts are considered as heresy, despite the awkwardness of being true. The fact that Britain was only involved in the slave trade for about 200 years (Islamic nations for over 1400 years), by only a small percentage of the population, which then abolished slavery and the slave trade and committed 5% of GDP to using the navy to end slave trading world wide, is completely ignored. The slave trading that dominated African tribes for millennia is completely ignored because Black people are special in Woke ideology. The fact that there were Black people that were slave owners in America is ignored. The fact that the first slaves in America were White Irish is ignored. The blind faith dogma must prevail despite being untrue because it is a religion run by a priestly inquisition.

Messiah

No single messiah figure but many minor messianic proponents of Woke ideology.

Scriptures

Critical Race Theory. Intersectionalism theory. White colonialist theory, White guilt.

Temples

The BBC. The WEF. The UN. The mainstream media. Universities.

Priests / Prophets

Champions of the Woke narrative.

Devil

White Christian middle class. Dissent; all dissenters are agents of the Devil.

Eschatology

A world where all dissent is eradicated and only the Woke narrative is expounded.

Queer theory

This incorporates Gay issues but especially Transgenderism. Queer Theory is the study of gender (they mean sex) and sexual practices outside of heterosexuality. It seeks to normalise everything beyond heterosexuality.

The chief enemy targeted by Queer Theory is Christian ethics; therefore efforts are made to demonise and eradicate the Christian moral principles of society to make fornication, depravity and debauchery normal - starting with brainwashing children in schools – especially with teaching by drag queens.

What began with making homosexuality normal, followed by homosexual marriage being legalised, was followed by deeper irrational depravities. Transgenderism (self-identifying as a different sex) began to dominate society resulting in arrests and jail for opponents of this new norm, conducted by the thought police. This was then taken to its logical conclusion with authorities forced to accept (on the basis of what they had already accepted) people identifying as reptiles, cats, dogs, wolves and even inanimate objects.

This moral insanity is so irrational that it can only be described as a religious cult. It rests on no objective rational foundation (you cannot change chromosomes). It rests upon a blind faith position. Opponents of this, refusing to identify individuals by their chosen sex (not gender), pronoun or creature species, were persecuted by the authorities in the same way that Romans persecuted individuals refusing to worship Caesar as a god. Historians will look back on modern times and compare it to the agreed insanity of Imperial Rome's emperor worship.

Scriptures Queer Theory.

Temples / festivals Pride Week.

Priest / Prophet Stonewall.

Devils

Terfs (especially JK Rowling). Christians. Comedians (e.g. Graham Linehan).

Eschatology

A world of chaotic, debauched, hedonistic, narcissistic depravity.

Zionism

Holocaust denial can put you in prison in many European countries. Why? Because it is part of the Zionist narrative that undergirds many in the Elite cabal. You can criticise most nationalities and religions with impunity but if you criticise Jews or Israel you are labelled anti-Semitic and put in jail for hate speech. This tells you who is in power.

Although Zionism is a political ideology, it rests its support upon Talmudic Judaism and Kabbalistic Judaism. It is today chiefly focused upon establishing the Sate of Israel in the Levant and indeed developing 'Greater Israel' by Balkanising several Middle East nations

and stealing large portions of territory; as well as eradicating the Palestinians in Gaza and the West Bank.⁶

The chief tenets of Zionism have to be policed with the utmost severity, such as accepting the Holocaust narrative. Whether there is genuine evidence for the claims of this narrative or not, the story must be accepted or penalties will follow – at least a fine or possibly jail. An esteemed 80-year old female German historian merely questioned the veracity of Nazi gas chambers and was jailed.

There is a Christian version of this political cult to deceive gullible Christians, especially in the US churches. This appears as Christian Zionism, Messianic Christianity, Jewish Roots theology and so on. This rogue theology developed from Dispensationalism, which was supported and promoted by Jewish bankers using proxies such as the charlatan and criminal CI Scofield.

The power of this cult is so extensive that it dominates American politics. All congressmen have to swear an oath of allegiance to Israel but not to America. Any congressman failing to support Israel is soon replaced by various means (usually lack of finance). Recently Netanyahu received 25 standing ovations for a speech in Congress (more than any American president) while he is hated at home and is facing multiple charges of corruption that could land him in jail. War on Hamas is a distraction largely to keep him in power.

Zionists also control much of American culture: virtually all the media (press, TV news channels, journals, social media), Big Pharma, energy, Hollywood, universities, NGOs, banks, the Fed, Wall St, and so on. Western culture is dominated by a tiny percentage of the population that is centred in a religious cult of the worst kind.⁷

Messiah

The Jewish people as a corporate messiah; the egregore.

Scriptures

The Talmud. The Kabbalah. [The Bible does not support Zionism in the slightest. The Biblical Jews were ground to powder (obliterated: Matt 21:44; the punishment for idolatry – Exod 32:20; 2 Kg 23:15; 2 Chron 34:7); their house left desolate (i.e. terminated; Lk 13:35) and the kingdom given to the Gentiles (Matt 21:43) according to Jesus.]

Temple (where their god dwells) Israel.

Priests

Rabbis. Certain Israeli leaders such as Netanyahu.

Prophets

Certain key rabbis such as Maimonides.

Denil

Jesus Christ. [Described in the Talmud as being punished in the foulest ways imaginable.]

⁶ The Yinon Plan.

⁷ Talmudism endorses: bestiality, incest, paedophilia, rape, murder, theft, perjury etc. against Gentiles. It teaches occultism and even devil worship. It teaches that Jews are God's people while Gentiles are subhuman animals to serve Jews.

Eschatology

Evil must proliferate to bring in the messianic age when the Jews will rule the world over Gentiles labelled as 'cattle' or 'dogs' with no soul. Every Jew will have 2,800 Gentile slaves.

Roman Catholicism

Although it comprises billions of members, Catholicism is a cult. Indeed, it is an anti-Christian cult based upon idolatry, blasphemy, superstition and lies.

A full analysis of the depth of the deceptions in Romanism is impossible here, but see my works on this.

Some of its grievous errors include: papal infallibility, worship of Mary, the immaculate conception of Mary, Mary as co-redemptrix and co-redeemer, purgatory, the mass, auricular confession, sacramentalism, indulgences, relics, prayers to saints, and so on. This is to say nothing of the bloody persecution of Biblical believers or the mass paedophilia committed by priests. Romanism also manifests occult beliefs, symbolism and practices.

Messiah

Ostensibly Jesus Christ but in reality the current pope, who is declared to be infallible in terms of his office.

Scriptures

Ostensibly the Bible but in reality the traditions and canon laws of the Roman church are more important plus the decrees of the pope ex cathedra.

Secretly the Vatican also houses copies of the Talmud (even though it burned old copies in a public show) and also occult sources, such as Hermetism.

Temple

Vatican City.

Priests

A hierarchical system of church authority resting in priests, bishops, cardinals and a pope.

Prophets

Certain popes, mystics and Catholic saints.

Devil

Ostensibly Satan, but in reality Romanism serves Satan.

Eschatology

A world dominated by the pope and the Roman Church. This was virtually achieved in the Dark Ages with the exception of lands still under paganism such as Scandinavia. The plan is to create a new dark age.

Luciferianism

Luciferianism is a more Gnostic way of saying Satanism. The focus is upon Lucifer as the representation of the giver of light and wisdom.

Luciferianism incorporates Neo-Gnosticism, which is a focus upon a hidden knowledge imparted to the faithful disciples of a new order. This knowledge is supposedly handed down by angels, or spirit beings (aeons), to adepts of the faith who pass it on to those deemed worthy. This means that the possessors of this knowledge have significant power in the cultic order. Knowledge implies power. Power then leads to control.

Luciferianism undergirds many Elite cults including Freemasonry, Kabbalism and Talmudism.

Messiah

Lucifer as the bringer of wisdom; a Prometheus-type figure.

Scriptures

Multiple sources, chiefly occult works and ancient mystical texts. E.g. The Egyptian and Tibetan Book of the Dead, the works of Aleister Crowley, Freemasonic texts, Hermetic texts, Zoroastrian texts, the works of Eliphas Levi, the Kabbalah, Theosophical works, Rosicrucian works, and so on.

Temple

The three key centres of the Elite in Washington DC (political power), London's Square Mile ('The City of London'; economic power)⁸ and Vatican City (religious power).

Priests

Main leaders of the global Elite, such as the head of the Rothschilds.

Prophets

Key historic teachers of the Illuminati, such as Adam Weishaupt, Albert Pike.

Devil

Jesus Christ.

Eschatology

A New World Order expressed in a neo-serfdom. The final world empire established by Satan working through proxies on Earth. The fulness of man's sinfulness dominating the world. The completeness of hedonism, idolatry, blasphemy, pride, and iniquity.

Gaia worship

In Greek mythology Gaia (= Roman Terra) was the personification of the Earth. Gaia is the Greek version of the ancient mother goddess trope that goes back to ancient Babylonia and Sumer. She is the origin of the Titans and gods that followed. The Mother Goddess religion has been historically centred in the worship of Artemis (Diana), Astarte, Kore, Aphrodite, and Hecate.

As the environmentalism movement became more of a cult than a focus on ecological activism so it slowly became more and more paganised. Gradually mythological aspects began to accrete so that full-blown Gaia worship was expressed. Many in the Green movement chose to adopt actual Gaia worship and spoke of the Earth as 'Mother' having a spiritual personality that could be offended.

The cult of climate alarmism has somewhat overtaken the blatant Gaia focus in recent years but it is still a feature within environmentalism.

⁸ Many buildings in the City of London are called 'temples'.

Witchcraft

Witchcraft is now a booming cult. It has always been present in human populations but usually as a secretive faction hidden away. It is one expression of the practice of magic (the craft to manipulate nature through various methods), divination, and spiritualism (communication with demons). In history it has often been associated with fertility rituals and temple cults.

Frequently persecuted in the West before the Enlightenment (and continuously afterward in pagan countries), it was thought abolished by the Victorians (though secret covens always existed in rural places, such as the New Forest) but in the mid-19th century it staged a comeback. Many witchcraft principles were advocated by Theosophy. By the turn of the 20th century it had a strong foothold in many civilised societies. By the end of the 1960s there were not only several covens in most large towns like Brighton but occult bookshops and gift shops began to open up brazenly in high streets. In some places, like Glastonbury, occult shops proliferated more than Tesco supermarkets. The psychedelic revolution of the 60s followed by the New Age movement greatly boosted the popularity of witchcraft.

After 1948 Gerald Gardner [1884-1964] began to collate witchcraft teachings from a variety of sources and cobbled them together to form the brand new Wicca sect. This claimed to be the historic 'old religion' but was actually a systematised, artificially-constructed new ideology. It contained rituals and teachings derived from a local Rosicrucian coven, Crowley, a local witch named Dorothy Clutterbuck, Theosophy, Freemasonry, and even Malaysian magic, all centred on the Mother Goddess (the Moon) and her consort Pan (the sun; the horned god = Adonis, Apollo, Baphomet, Cernunnos, Dionysius, Lucifer, Osiris, Thor).

Probably the majority of modern witches emanate from Wicca, though some follow older traditions such as the radical path established by Aleister Crowley⁹ [1875-1947] or even older streams going back to Eliphas Levi [1810-1875],¹⁰ Roger Bacon [1219-1292],¹¹ Albertus Magnus [1200-1280], alchemy, Hermetism, Freemasonry, Rosicrucianism, Kabbalism or the original Sumerian magic cults.

As the West became more and more paganised (paganism is the fastest growing religion in Britain) so it took on more forms of open witchcraft. While there is no practical difference between White and Black magic (apart from inner motivation), the darker side of devil worship was expressed in various churches of Satan, such as the one founded in San Francisco in 1966 by Anton Szander Lavey [1930-].

In its many manifestations, witchcraft is becoming more and more popular amongst the young, being expressed in rock music, pop concerts, the arts and celebrity influences – such as Madonna. High level Elite figures, such as Marina Abramović, have demonstrated the complicity of political figures (e.g. Hilary Clinton) in witchcraft rituals (such as 'spirit cooking').

While witchcraft and Luciferianism are different (witchcraft is focused upon magic, Luciferianism upon Gnosticism) they are united in both being part of the occult.

⁹ Infamous, depraved English occultist advocate of sex-magic. He founded a new order of witchcraft and wrote manuals.

¹⁰ A French poet, writer, Catholic student-priest who became a magician and wrote manuals on the subject.

¹¹ 'Doctor Mirabilis'; medieval English philosopher and Franciscan friar later regarded as a wizard.

Celebrity cults

While not a real religion, many young people throughout the world attach a cult-like devotion to a certain celebrity; usually a pop or rock performer. Taylor Swift would be a typical example.

In the past, gullible people followed religious prophets or self-proclaimed messiah figures. They made financial sacrifices to support these leaders and undertook pilgrimages to hear them. This has now been replaced by expensive pilgrimages to rock concerts to hear and see their favourite performer.

Typically cult followers of celebrities adorn their rooms with posters of their hero. They buy all the books available on them and all their records and videos. They copy their dress style and even try to make their appearance similar. They name their children after them and devote their lives to them just like a religious zealot.

Pop concerts become temples of worship to their favourite star. In some cases, such as Madonna, the celebrity designs the show to incorporate religious symbolism and ritual. More and more rock stars use occult themes in their stage performances making them a real religious service. Some extreme examples of this have demonstrated audience members becoming hypnotised or even demonised. Genuinely Satanic celebrities have included demonic messages and incantations within songs on albums. In some cases the messages have been to commit suicide or to kill opponents.

For many young people cult-like following of a celebrity has replaced religion.

The need for a religious expression

All these religious expressions, especially the unlikely ones, reveal a long-established truth. When you remove a belief-system people do not believe nothing; they believe anything.

Populations in the West are part of a culture that developed on a foundation of Christianity. It was Christianity that undergirded the laws and justice system, the schools, the welfare organisations like orphanages, the universities, the local churches, the festivals of the year, the common holidays and so on. The best-selling books for centuries were the Bible and Bunyan's Pilgrim's Progress. Even though genuine Christians were a minority in the nations, the vast majority of the people were still based upon Christian principles in culture.

The global Elite have been slowly destroying the Christian bedrock in society for decades in a plan to eliminate it altogether from social life. At this point they have successfully destroyed large parts of the effects of Christian principles in most aspects of social instructions and have even weakened the religious expression of Biblical principles in religious structures like churches, denominations and colleges. Some institutions, such as Anglicanism, have succumbed to a thoroughgoing Wokeness and progressive heresy.

The people, having been stripped of Christian influences in society have succumbed to believing anything. They are prepared to believe and accept such nonsense as the following:

- A man can become a woman by self-identification.
- Convicted rapists can identify as a woman and be sent to female-only prisons, whereupon they rape inmates.
- A child pupil can identify as a wolf and this is accepted by teachers as rational.

- A young female student identifies as a cat and only responds to the teacher in meows. This is tolerated.
- Britain, the nation that terminated slave-trading at great cost to the taxpayer, is castigated for its association with slavery. Islamic nations, which have, continually practised slavery for 1400-years, are given a free pass.
- Britain, which brought civilisation and prosperity to many impoverished nations, is criticised for colonialism. Yet nations that hadn't even invented the wheel or the plough received a quick start in modern civilisation at Britain's cost.
- Whiteness is proclaimed as evil and White people are called upon to express guilt for being White. This is racism.
- White people and imperialist Western nations are attacked as being a stain on humanity and the world. Yet these people gave the world: the harnessing of electricity, the harnessing of gas, the telegraph, the telephone, mobile 'phones, antibiotics, railways, motor cars, aeroplanes, beam engines, steam engines, turbine engines, the television, computers, the Internet, radar, sonar, discovery of the genome, space travel, the laws of physics, calculus, long bridges, aqueducts, viaducts, cement, steel, and so on.

The vacuum created by the loss of Christianity in society is replaced quickly by a horde of alternative, often nonsensical, ideologies. While Christianity elevated and edified people (even only professing believers) the alternatives today always cause degeneration of the heart and soul. Wokeness creates weakness.

Syncretism

These (and some others) will gradually be drawn into a syncretistic agglomeration parading as a new world religion. Just this week the pope has caused controversy by stating that all religions lead to God; but that is exactly what we would expect him to say as he is following the Elite cabal objective of a universal religion.

Just as the cabal want to create a new homogenous population through mongrelisation with immigrants in order to be more compliant, so the Elite also seek to create a new, homogenised, blended, spiritual system; a universal religion built from many disparate parts. The mongrelised population will be controlled by a fascist dictatorship while the mongrelised religion will be controlled by an authoritarian priestly system. Both comprise the state under the New World Order. The despotic state will fully control: actions, thoughts, ethics, and spirituality. This is the mark of the beast; beastly control of the mind and actions (figuratively pictured in Revelation as the mark on the forehead and the hand).

The motivation behind this new religion

The real purpose of the Elite's foray into spirituality is to displace God; they are at war with God.

Since they cannot touch God in any way they focus their attention on God's people (Christians) and God's principles in society. The actions of the cabal in waging war against God are really just the proxy attack by the Devil using human puppets.

In getting rid of God, the Devil tempts wicked people to think that they can become God. This was the original lying temptation in Eden ('you will be like God'; Gen 3:5). It is the lie

throughout history promised by multiple false religions. This is the meaning of the mark 666 in Revelation – man (6) trying to be God (666, implying tri-unity). It is the essence of the occult – trying to gain God-like powers over nature.¹²

In serving Satan and gaining control over the world, the final empire thinks that it has received god-like status - but it has not and it will then collapse in a torrent of divine judgment with all the wicked being sentenced to hell, along with the Devil and all his angels.

The purpose of any new religion

The root explanation for what is going on in the world is the war between Satan and God being played out on the battlefield of the minds of people.

The Devil usurped the Earth, which fully belongs to God to serve his purposes of self-expression, and seeks to dominate the world of men by bringing about submission through various methods. Ultimately, as I have explained, he seeks to build a world empire that he fully dominates, wielding power through tyrannical human proxies whom I call the global Elite.

Beginning after the Flood, the Devil started bringing about new religions based upon idolatry and occultism. Such was the case in the early Babylonian empire of Nimrod and of Sumer. This included early Mesopotamian witchcraft, examined by historians as a specific locus of occult studies.¹³

From this original idolatry, king-worship¹⁴ and occultism arose all further pantheons of gods and principles of magic and mysticism. So you had the basic pantheon of the sun god, the moon goddess, the storm god, the fire god, the earth god, the sky god and so on. Each culture gave these new names and origin stories. I have explained this many times.

In later centuries religions became more complicated and nuanced; some earlier features were kept but others discarded. Some were monogamous (e.g. Akhenaton's sun worship) while others were polygamous (Hinduism). Some focused on an element like fire (e.g. Zoroastrianism) while others centred on a concept, such as wisdom or knowledge (e.g. Gnosticism). Some focused on ethics (Confucianism) but others on ancestors (Shinto). Some on inaction (Taoism) but others on self-control (Buddhism).

The point is that all these are merely weapons in the satanic war against God. The object is to take away the minds of men and commit them to something opposed to God. There are multiple religions and sects to suit the predilections of the personality of men; each to his own. The Devil doesn't care which religion you support so long as you are not focused on the true God.

¹² Occultism comprises: magic (trying to gain power over nature by spells); divination (trying to know the future) and spiritualism (communication with demons and the dead). All these are in the province of God alone.

¹³ E.g. Kurt Seligmann, The History of Magic, chapter 'Mesopotamia'.

¹⁴ Nimrod was deified as the sun god.

So today there are still multiple religions and ideologies that act like religions that are opposed to God and his Son Jesus Christ. The purpose of these religions is to distract people from Christ; to stop people finding salvation.

There are multiple facets of false religion including:

- Man seeking to be God.
- Man seeking to control the Earth, nature, the future.
- Selfishness and pride. [Note that Buddhism, founded upon the self-sacrificing, selfless noble path, was started by Siddartha Gautama who selfishly abandoned his family in order to follow his own path.]
- Asceticism.
- Hedonism.
- Mysticism.
- Worship of gods.
- Placating of evil spirits.
- Sacrifice and various offerings.
- Rituals.
- Prayer.
- A system of laws.
- A hierarchy of priests.
- Prophets.
- Saviours, avatars.
- A temple, ziggurat, tower, pyramid.

The Elite cabal are in the process of solidifying modern religions and ideologies into a single expression of false religion opposed to God which they can rule with tyrannical authority. This will be the new global religion.

Biblical principles that count in light of these developments

Without any exposition, these points show that the whole attempt by Satan to achieve godlike status over all the Earth, working through human proxies in government, is a forlorn hope; a project doomed to failure.

- God is eternal, omniscient, omnipresent and omnipotent. There is nothing that can compare with God. God is sovereign over all things.
- God created angels and men.
- Satan (an angel), all his demons (angels) and all followers of the Devil cannot stand in the presence of God. The mere breath of Christ destroys them (2 Thess 2:8).
- God has prepared hell (the lake of fire) for the Devil, his angels and all who follow him (Rev 19:20, 20:10, 15).
- God only allows Satan to form a world government for a short time in order to allow sin in mankind to come to fruition; then all sin is terminated. All sinful men go to judgment (Heb 9:27).
- All sinful men are raised in an immortal body in order to suffer eternal damnation for their lawlessness.
- Only those in Christ survive final divine judgment, have eternal life, and return to the rejuvenated Earth to live in bliss in paradise forever in fellowship with God.

The LORD reigns; let the peoples tremble! He dwells *between* the cherubim; the LORD *is* great ... and He *is* high above all the peoples. Let them praise your great and awesome name -- He *is* holy ... you have established equity; you have executed justice and righteousness ... Exalt the LORD our God, and worship at His footstool -- He *is* holy. Ps 99:1-5

Conclusion

More and more modern ideologies emerge in culture that are completely irrational and even nonsensical. They demand a religious blind faith in stupid propositions; such as that a male can become a female by choice or that the Earth is burning up when the evidence is that it is getting colder.¹⁵

All this is to dumb-down new generations and prevent them from thinking critically and being self-disciplined since thinking people pose a threat to Elite strategies. Brainwashed sheep are no threat to dictators but intelligent, focused, independent thinkers are dangerous.

A further purpose is to attack God by re-programming his human creation to make people not only compliant to the cabal's plans but a pale shadow of what God created man to be. As well as despoiling the world and the natural order in many ways¹⁶ the Elite seek to despoil mankind itself, especially with its focus upon Transhumanism.

PAUL FAHY © COPYRIGHT 2024 UNDERSTANDING MINISTRIES

¹⁵ Warming essentially stopped decades ago (apart from minor natural blips such as El Nino). The prognostications from observed solar exigencies, based upon past history, suggest a coming cold period. ¹⁶ E.g. chemtrails pouring toxic compounds into the sky.